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THE HISTORY 
OF THE SITE

The current FAO headquarters are located in an 
area of land created by a structural depression 
formed in the late geological history of the region 

between the main, broader part of the Aventine Hill 
towards the north, and one of its offshoots to the south, 
previously known as Saxum or Aventino Minore. In fact, 
over time, particularly during the modern era, the 
whole of Rome�s topography (more speci�cally, the rise 
and fall of the land) has changed signi�cantly. The tuff 
plane (i.e. the area of �at land) that characterizes all of 
south-western Rome has been carved over the course of 
time by small tributaries of the River Tiber (the banks 
of which lie a little further to the north), causing the 
formation of what we have come to know today as the 
hills of Rome. Thus, the entire valley in this area, the 
�at zone of the Circus Maximus and the current Viale 
delle Terme di Caracalla corresponds to the course of the 
tributary known as the Aqua Mariana (commonly referred 
to as Marrana), which, having risen in the area of San 
Giovanni in Laterano, separated the Palatine Hill from 
the Aventine. The current Via Gregorio Magno, leading 
towards the Colosseum, follows the course of another 
tributary, the line of which separated the Caelian and the 
Palatine Hills. Finally, what is now Viale Aventino follows 
the course of another body of water, which divided the 
Aventine Hill in two and �owed onwards into the Tiber 
in the area of what is now Porta Portese.

Below: Current view towards the Palatine 
Hill from the building C terrace. Right: The 

northern side of the Aventine Hill in ancient 
times, in Rodolfo Lanciani�s late nineteenth 

century archaeological map of Rome. 
The map has been reworked to include 
the schematic plan of the current FAO 

buildings (R. Lanciani, Forma Urbis Romae, 
Milan 1893�1901, tables 35 and 41).
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Over the course of centuries, the ancient valley 
�oors were gradually built up, causing the once steep 
and precipitous slopes of the hills to become barely 
recognizable. Nevertheless, behind the FAO building 
itself, a clear difference can still be seen in the level of 
the terrain to the rear, where an ancient terrace wall 
from the age of the Roman Republic divides the higher 
ground of the tuff from the ancient watercourse. The area 
surrounding the current FAO headquarters lies within 
the �rst historical limits of the city and was enclosed 
within the �rst circuit of walls built in opus quadratum 
format. This was known as the �Servian Wall�, because 
literary tradition traces its construction back to Servius 
Tullius, the sixth king of Rome, although in reality it 
stems from the era of the Roman Republic and can be 

Roman terrace wall made of tuff and 
travertine in opus quadratum format 
from the second century BCE visible 
behind building C in the FAO complex.

dated back to the �rst half of the fourth century BCE. 
The city of Rome probably already had around 100�000 
inhabitants at this point. Various sections of the wall 
can still be seen within the area: one, in particular, 
is incorporated into the complex of the Istituto Santa 
Margherita, while another lies in the �eld directly in 
front of it. The �rst section was discovered in 1884 during 
reconstruction work on the complex, while the second 
was found during excavation works carried out in the 
Institute�s garden in 1983. The �nds made it possible to 
trace, albeit still hypothetically, the line of the wall in an 
east-westerly direction during the age of the Republic, as 
well as the probable location of the Porta Naevia, a gate 
marking the start of a road heading south (Vicus Portae 
Naeviae � Via Ardeatina) that crossed this very area.
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THE ORIGINS  
OF THE COMPLEX

In 1937 the Ministry of Public Works launched a 
tender for the �Project to build the new headquarters 
of the Ministry of Italian Africa to be erected in 

Rome between the Via d�Africa (what is now the 
Viale Aventino) and the Archaeological Walk�. 
The commission for the de�nitive project was granted 
in 1938 to a team formed by the architects Vittorio 
Ca�ero, Alberto Legnani, Mario Ridol�, Wolfgang 
Frankl, Ettore Rossi, Armando Sabbatini and Giulio 
Rinaldi. The building, which corresponds to today�s 
building B in the current complex occupied by FAO, 
was never actually used as the Ministry�s headquarters 
owing to military developments and the consistent loss 
of colonial possessions. In 1938, work also began on 
the construction of line B of the Rome subway in view 
of the opening of the EUR development in 1940, later 
cancelled due to World War II. It was not until 1955 that 
the subway line, with its Circus Maximus station located 
right in front of the FAO complex, was completed all the 
way to the EUR district and fully inaugurated.

A view of the Ministry of Italian 
Africa, now the FAO headquarters 

in Rome, from the �nal plan by 
architect Vittorio Ca�ero in 1950. 

Archive of the Accademia Nazionale 
di San Luca, Ridol�-Frankl-Malagricci 

fund, 1947�1951.
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FAO TODAY

The Food and Agriculture Organization of the 
United Nations (FAO) is the largest of the United 
Nations� specialist agencies. Its mission is to combat 

hunger, promote sustainable systems of food production, 
and ensure everybody has access to a balanced diet.

The Organization�s general aims are re�ected in the 
three global objectives de�ned by its Members:  
1. To defeat famine, food insecurity and malnutrition, so 
that everyone in the world can have access to suf�cient 
quantities of safe, nutritious food to be able to lead 
active, healthy lives.  
2. To eliminate poverty, especially in rural areas, and to 
advance economic and social progress for everybody by 
increasing food production and promoting agricultural 
development and a sustainable way of life.  
3. To promote the sustainable use of natural resources, 
including soil, water, air, the climate and genetic 
resources, to bene�t present and future generations.

FAO was founded in 1945 thanks to the joint 
efforts of 44 governments to create a permanent 
intergovernmental organization dedicated to food and 
agriculture. It now comprises 194 Member Nations, 
two Associate Members (Faroe Islands and Tokelau), 
and one Member Organization (European Union). It is 
headquartered in Rome, and with its various types of 
of�ces and agreements, it is represented and present 

A wide aerial view with FAO 
headquarters in the foreground and 

the monuments of Rome in the 
distance. Clockwise from left: The 

Vittoriano, Viale dei Fori Imperiali, the 
Colosseum, the Arch of Constantine, the 

Palatine Hill and the Circus Maximus. 
FAO headquarters now comprises six 

buildings; the last two were added 
in the late 1980s and early 1990s. 

The eight-storey complex spans 
more than 100�000�square�metres 
across a total area of four hectares.

in 152 countries. This global network of local of�ces 
is developing continuously in order to respond to the 
new demands and development priorities of the various 
countries and to increase the impact of the Organization 
in the �eld at national, regional and subregional levels.

The �ve Regional Of�ces enable FAO to respond in a 
multidisciplinary way to ensure greater food security 
and to pursue the priorities for agricultural and rural 
development in the geographical areas of competence. 
Furthermore, they also play a fundamental role in 
de�ning FAO�s political agenda through management of 
the Regional Conferences.

The ten Subregional Of�ces provide cutting-edge advice 
in response to requests from governments. They are 
the �rst points of reference for technical assistance, 
which might be advice on policy or the development 
of competences and speci�c projects in the respective 
geographical areas.

The National Of�ces are the �rst line of action in 
combatting all forms of famine and in developing 
resilience among the population to the negative effects 
of climate change and other global challenges. It is here 
that FAO reaches its maximum potential, providing 
strategic policies and making its technical competence 
available in the �eld.
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Located on the fourth �oor of building B, it�s one of the 
most representative meeting rooms used by senior 
FAO of�cers. The long convex wall curves outwards 

representing organic life, expanding and directly 
impacting the world. This is a metaphor for the decisions 
taken within this Room that will have a physical impact 
on the world. The minimalist functional design offers 
an appropriate venue to hold the Organization�s most 
senior-level meetings. The inner wall�s rough undulating 
surface recalls the waves of Australia�s oceans; the dark 
wood table is in the shape of a sailing boat with the 
curtain panels representing the boat�s sails. Reference to 
the continent�s past colonization period is represented 
by wooden boiserie which alludes to the �rst dwellings. 
The Room is also adorned with a painting by the 
Australian artist Edward Blitner, Lightning Spirit Man 
and the Mimis Magic Power Bag of the Dreamin Place. 
The work represents mimis, spirit �gures represented in 
many bark paintings and carvings. Their images are also 
found upon the rock walls of the Kakadu National Park 
(UNESCO World Heritage Site) and the Arnhem Land 
escarpment, in the Northern Territory. The painting is 
framed and includes an explanation of the origins of 
the myth and its relevance for aboriginal communities. 
Inaugurated in 1955 and renovated in 2011, the Australia 
Room also has a small studio for videoconferencing, 
adjacent to the main room.

THE AUSTRALIA 
ROOM

Right: The long convex wall curves 
outwards representing organic 

life, directly impacting the world, 
as are the decisions taken within 

this Room. On the opposite page: 
FAO Director-General JosØ Graziano da Silva 

meeting Akinwumi Adesina, President of 
the African Development Bank (2018).

LIGHTNING SPIRIT MAN AND 
THE MIMIS MAGIC POWER BAG 
OF THE DREAMIN PLACE

A painting by the Australian artist 
Edward Blitner. It depicts Mimis 
spirit �gures, represented in many 
bark paintings and carvings.
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Located on the eighth �oor of building B, the 
Indonesian Room includes a lounge and a dining 
room for special receptions, such as banquets reserved 

for delegates. Inaugurated in 1969 and renovated in 1996 
(almost doubling its size), the Room is decorated with 
representative examples of traditional wood carvings 
which is very common in many parts of Indonesia. 
The style is that of temple carvings from the ninth to 
the thirteenth century. Starting from the silver dinner 
service, carved-back chairs to the paneling on the 
columns and walls, every detail is handmade and a 
work of art in itself. The room was donated by the 
Government of Indonesia, and both Indonesian and 
Italian artisans worked together to �t the carved teak 
paneling. Some of the carved wooden panels include 
text and symbolic elements about the history of the 
country, such as the engravings on the back wall and 
the entrance. They depict scenes from the life of King 
Rama and his wife Sita, according to Balinese tradition. 
The story recounts the kidnapping of Queen Sita by the 
giant Rahwana. Rama�s victory over Rahwana represents 
the victory of virtue over evil, while the queen�s return 
to Rama�s kingdom symbolizes the return of wealth 
and abundance to the people. The Hindu queen is also 
seen as the incarnation of Dewi Sri, the goddess of rice, 
one of the most important staple foods in Indonesia. 
The Room includes other engravings of symbolic value, 
including a bird of paradise (a symbol of nature), a white 
heron (a symbol of fertility), a peacock (a symbol of the 
Indonesian teak forests) and the Gunungan (the tree of 
life and a symbol of the universe, depicted on a screen).

THE INDONESIA 
ROOM
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Right: a detail of wooden carving 
panels depicting scenes from the life 

of King Rama and his wife Sita.





144 / INSIDE FAO A TRULY GLOBAL FORUM

Located on the eighth �oor of building B, the Morocco 
Room is also known as King Mohammed V Room. 
Donated by the Government of Morocco, the Room 

extends over 150 square metres, hosting a dining room 
and a wide lounge overlooking the terrace.

The traditional Moroccan space is characterized by the 
�oor and the lower part of the walls made in blue and 
white hand-painted tiles. The upper walls were carved 
on site by Moroccan artisans and left white to offset the 
mosaics. This reception room is sumptuously furnished 
with rich Moroccan carpets, cushioned leather sofas 
and a wooden ceiling. The picture windows are adorned 
with curtains, and the chandeliers hanging from the 
wooden ceiling provide lighting. Two fountains separate 
the seating area from the main section of the room: the 
musical tone of the miniature waterfalls creates a sense 
of peace and well-being.

Inaugurated in 1965, the Room was restructured in 1967 
and in 1987. It is reserved for the Director-General to 
welcome high-level visitors, such as heads of delegations. 

In addition to the main entrance, you can access the 
Room through an arched secondary entrance, engraved 
in detail, closed by a �nely-decorated door adjoining the 
Indonesia Room.

THE MOROCCO ROOM
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ANGOLA RADIO AND 
TELEVISION CENTRE

The entrance displays works 
by Angolan artists.
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The Korean Conference Service Centre is located on the 
�rst �oor of building A. Donated by the Government of 
the Republic of Korea in 2001, it is a multifunctional space 

equipped with computers. The space serves as an information 
and document distribution area for the Green Room and the 
Red Room.

The Centre is adorned with some paintings entitled Feelings 
from Korea, by the Korean architect and artist, Tai Nam Jung. 
A wall displays some folk instruments called Samul Nori 
(signifying playing four instruments), typical of traditional 
music. There are also examples of ancient Korean farmers 
folk poems, written in Korean calligraphy. The many pictures 
display Korean architecture and landscapes.

KOREAN 
CONFERENCE 
SERVICE 
CENTRE
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The multifunctional Korean Lounge 
serves as a foyer area for activities 
taking place in the Green Room 
and the Red Room. The area 
is decorated with traditional 
Korean paintings and objects. 
It was inaugurated in 2001.
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Located on the ground �oor of building A, the UEMOA 
press room (Economic and Monetary Union of West 
Africa) is a workplace equipped for use by journalists. 

Inaugurated in 1999 and refurbished in 2003, the Room 
is decorated in wood and leather with typical artworks 
and craft items provided by the UEMOA Member 
States. The Room has a lounge and a small studio 
for interviews.

UEMOA 
ROOM ©
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Donated by the UEMOA Member 
States (Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte 

d‘Ivoire, Guinea-Bissau, Mali, Niger, 
Senegal and Togo), it is a press room 
for use by journalists. Inaugurated in 

1999, it can seat 14 people.
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ESPACE 
GABON The Espace Gabon is located on the ground �oor of 

building A, and is a venue to inform visitors and 
guests about FAO�s ongoing projects and activities. 

Donated by the Government of Gabon, the space is 
usually used for meetings with the decentralized of�ces, 
as well as high-level meetings. The meeting room was 
inaugurated in 1999 and refurbished in 2003.

The meeting room is equipped with 
video facility to screen FAO�s ongoing 
projects and activities. Inaugurated in 

1999, it can seat 20 people.
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TURKISH 
REGISTRATION 
CENTRE

SLOVAK 
DELEGATES� 
LOUNGE

©
FA

O
/G

. C
A

RO
TE

N
U

TO

©
FA

O
/G

. C
A

RO
TE

N
U

TO

Located at the entrance of building A, the Turkish 
Registration Centre is a large airy space, designed 
to receive delegations and carry out registration 

procedures. Workstations line the walls; the area 
is decorated with Turkish ceramic tile copies based 
on the originals from the �fteenth and sixteenth 
century; among the carpets on the walls, one is made 
of silk. The Iznik ceramic tiles, depict the traditional 
sailing ship and represent the richness of the seas. 
Donated by the Government of Turkey, the Turkish 
Registration Centre was designed to help FAO ful�l 
its growing role as an important United Nations 
conference centre.

Located on the ground �oor of building B, the Slovak 
Delegates� Lounge is a multifunctional workspace 
equipped with the latest state-of-the-art technology. 

Donated by the Government of Slovakia in 2001, it is 
possible to separate the multimedia working area with 
sliding wooden doors. This working environment consists 
of an internet area, a lounge and a small meeting room. 
It is reserved to welcome delegates from Members.

Some artworks are kept there, mostly provided on 
permanent loan by the Slovak Agriculture Museum in Nitra. 
Among them, a textile composition named Prebudenie (2001) 
stands out, made by Lucia Korenova, an expert in textile art.

The Iznik ceramic tiles, depicting 
the traditional sailing ship, 
represent the richness of the seas. 
The Centre was inaugurated in 
2001 and can seat 10 people.

PREBUDENIE

The artwork is a textile composition 
made in 2001 by the Slovak 
artist Lucia Korenova.
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OTHER ARTWORKS

ANGOLA FAMILY UNITY

This painting was done in 2008, by the 
Angolan artist Alvaro Macieira. It upholds 

the idea of family unity against hunger 
and poverty and celebrates peace as 

the biggest conquest of Angolans and 
of humanity. The painting was donated 
by the Government of Angola and is on 

display on the third �oor of building A, in 
the Angola Radio and Television Centre.

Even though many works of art are stored in the 
main meeting rooms, there are a great number of 
masterpieces throughout the FAO headquarters 

complex. Here are some works of art which you can see 
when walking down the hallways.

AUTUMN

In this classic example of Swiss colourism, the Swiss artist 
Giovanni Giacometti (1868�1933) brilliantly mediates 
between French and Italian artistic traditions. The colour of 
the human forms echo the hues of the distant landscape, 
establishing a deep connection between nature and human 
experience. The artwork was completed in 1920 and 
donated in 1953 by the Government of Switzerland. It is on 
display along the hallway on the �rst �oor of building A.©
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THE TERRACE

RUDERE ROMANO I –  
OMAGGIO A CARACALLA

�Roman ruin I � Tribute to Caracalla� is a 
contemporary art sculpture representing a 
Roman ruin. It was made in 1958 by the 

Italian artist Roberto Ruta (1912�1994). 
It is a stone artwork, just under 1 metre 

high, placed on a chiselled pedestal. 
Donated in 1994, it is located on the FAO 

rooftop terrace, on the eighth �oor of 
building B, facing the Baths of Caracalla.

FAO�s magni�cent panoramic terrace is located 
on the eighth �oor of building B. Extending over 
1 400 square metres, the 360-degree open space 

offers breathtaking views over some of Rome�s most 
famous archaeological sites, reference points for those 
visiting the city, including the Colosseum and Saint 
Peter�s Basilica. The terrace�s travertine paving is also 
a tribute to these two magni�cent landmarks of the 
capital city and in keeping with the �nest traditions of 
ancient Rome. 

From up here the hustle and bustle of the city seems 
distant and traf�c noise is muted; you can take 
advantage of the restaurant and two coffee bars 
to take a moment and ponder the ancient glories 
of Rome.
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